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>>Committee commenced at 13:30

Chairman (Mr. Main)(interpretation): Good
day. Welcome, everyone. Before we proceed,
I would like to ask Mr. Keyootak to say the
opening prayer, please. Thank you.

>>Prayer

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Keyootak. I am pleased to begin by
welcoming everyone to this meeting of the
Legislative Assembly’s Standing Committee
on Legislation.

We have convened today on the occasion of
the Standing Committee’s televised hearing
on Bill 55, An Act to Amend the Property
Assessment and Taxation Act.

I would first like to introduce my Standing
Committee colleagues:

e Tony Akoak, Member for Gjoa Haven;

e Pat Angnakak, Member for Iqaluit-
Niaqunnguu;

e Pauloosie Keyootak, Member for
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Uqqummiut;

e Adam Arreak Lightstone, Member for
Iqaluit-Manirajak;

e David Qamaniq, Member for Tununigq;

Good day, Mr. Qamaniq.

¢ Emiliano Qirngnuq, Member for Netsilik;

¢ Allan Rumbolt, Member for Hudson Bay;
and

e Craig Simailak, Member for Baker Lake.

Also joining us through Zoom is Calvin
Pedersen, Member for Kugluktuk.

The Standing Committee had previously
scheduled a televised hearing on the bill in
April of this year. However, this hearing was
postponed as a consequence of the COVID-19
outbreak. We are pleased that it is able to
proceed today.

(interpretation ends) The territorial Property
Assessment and Taxation Act provides the
legal framework for the levying of property
taxes.

Property taxes are an important source of
revenue for the territorial government. The
most recent public accounts indicate that
$8,384,000 was raised during the 2019-2020
fiscal year through the levying of property
taxes. The 2021-22 main estimates project
that $11.6 million will be raised from property
taxes during the current fiscal year.

These revenues flow to the Consolidated
Revenue Fund. Through the annual budget
process, the elected Members of the
Legislative Assembly approve the
government’s proposed operations and
maintenance and capital expenditures, which
encompass everything from the construction
of new schools and other community
infrastructure to the provision of health care
and other public services to Nunavummiut.
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(interpretation) Bill 55 received second
reading in the Legislative Assembly on
October 23, 2020, and was referred to the
Standing Committee for consideration.

(interpretation ends) The government’s
official description of the bill indicates that it
“amends the Property Assessment and
Taxation Act to provide for taxation of Inuit
Owned Lands in accordance with Article 22
of the Nunavut Agreement. It also abolishes
the territorial board of revision, makes other
updates to appeal processes, expands
enforcement powers and makes various other
amendments to the Act.”

(interpretation) The Minister of Community
and Government Services, who is the sponsor
of the bill, is appearing before the Standing
Committee to respond to Members’ questions

concerning its provisions. Welcome, Minister
Ehaloak.

A number of other witnesses will be
appearing before the Standing Committee
during this hearing, including:

Nunavut Tunngavik Incorporated;
Agnico Eagle Mines;
Baffinland Iron Mines; and

The Northwest Territories and Nunavut
Chamber of Mines.

This hearing will provide an opportunity for
Members of the Standing Committee to pose
questions to stakeholders regarding their
submissions on the bill.

I will now cover a number of housekeeping
matters.

I ask all Members and witnesses to ensure that
their cellphones and other electronic devices

do not disrupt these proceedings.

In order to assist our interpreters and technical
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staff, I ask that all Members and witnesses go
through the Chair before speaking.

Members of the Standing Committee have
been provided with a number of documents
for their ease of reference during this televised
hearing. For the benefit of our witnesses and
interpreters, [ ask Members to be precise
when quoting from or making reference to
specific documents.

This hearing is being televised live across
Nunavut on community cable stations and the
direct-to-home satellite services of both the
Bell and Shaw networks. It is also being live-
streamed on the Legislative Assembly’s
website.

Transcripts of the televised hearing will be
posted on the Legislative Assembly’s website
at a later date.

I will now invite the sponsor of Bill 55 to
introduce her officials and begin her opening
statement. Thank you. Minister Ehaloak, you
may begin.

Hon. Jeannie Ehaloak: Good afternoon and
thank you, Mr. Chairman. First of all, I would
like to say “good afternoon” to my colleagues
and especially to one of my constituents who
is participating through Zoom, Carson Gillis.
It’s good to see you from this far away.

First of all, Mr. Chairman, I would like to
introduce my colleagues: Mr. Kyle Seeley,
who is the Deputy Minister of Community
and Government Services, on my right; Mr.
Thomas Ahlfors, who is the Acting Director
for the Legal Division from the Department of
Justice, to my left; and Mr. Dan Carlson, who
is the Assistant Deputy Minister with the
Department of Finance, on Mr. Ahlfors’ left.

Mr. Chairman, Members, and invited guests, I
am pleased to be here today to speak to you
about Bill 55, An Act to Amend the Property
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Assessment and Taxation Act. This Act is the
core piece of legislation that sets out how we
administer properties in Nunavut: how we
define them, how we transfer them, how we
value them, and how we tax them.

The existing Property Assessment and
Taxation Act (PATA) was enacted in 1988,
before the Nunavut Agreement. Bill 55
proposes to update this Act in different ways.
Together the changes we are proposing will
improve our administrative processes and,
importantly, will ensure that the Government
of Nunavut’s property assessment process
aligns with the Nunavut Agreement.

Overall, Mr. Chairman and Members, our
goal is to improve the effectiveness and
clarity of existing property assessment
processes. Such clarity will benefit both
property owners and the Government of
Nunavut.

First, a bit of context to help “set the scene”
for your consideration of Bill 55.

A property is a defined area of land. Many
properties have improvements on them. An

improvement could be a building, like a house

or office building, or something else that has
been built, like an airstrip, a generating
station, or a railway.

Both the land and the improvements have
value. Together the value of the land plus the
value of any improvements on that land make
up the assessed value of the property.

This assessed value is not the same as a
market value (how much you could sell the
property for) but instead is a value assigned
by professional property assessors following
the rules of the Property Assessment and
Taxation Act.

Each property is assigned a “class” depending

on how it is used. For example, residential
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single homes are one class of property,
residential multi-unit dwellings (apartment
buildings) are another, and commercial
properties are a third.

Properties in Nunavut are owned in different
ways, as set out in the Nunavut Agreement.
Essentially, properties fall on Crown land, on
Commissioner’s lands, on Inuit-owned lands,
or on municipal lands. Landowners may lease
properties to others for a variety of uses.

Landowners also have different types of
property rights. A landowner can own surface
rights (controlling how the top of the land is
used) and subsurface rights (ownership of the
resources under the ground, and the resulting
royalties).

Each year the tax authority sets a mill rate,
which is simply a tax rate that applies to
properties. The tax authority multiplies the
mill rate by the assessed value of a property to
determine taxes owing. Different property
classes can have different mill rates.

The City of Iqaluit is its own tax authority. It
sets its own mill rates and collects its own
taxes. The Government of Nunavut plays this
role in all other communities outside Iqaluit
and on lands outside these communities.

I appreciate this was a quick summary but
hope it has been a helpful reminder of a very
complex issue.

I would now like to spend the next few
minutes talking about Bill 55 itself and how it
touches upon three different aspects of

property:

e Treatment of Inuit-owned lands
e Streamlining review of initial complaints
e Other matters
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Treatment of Inuit-owned Lands

Mr. Chairman and Members, Bill 55 proposes
amendments that would clarify how Inuit-
owned lands are to be treated in terms of
property assessment.

Before going on, [ will first confirm that Inuit-
owned lands will remain exempt from
property taxation, other than the exceptions
already specified by Article 22 of the Nunavut
Agreement.

Specifically the Nunavut Agreement
establishes that Inuit-owned lands are not
subject to taxation unless they are:

1) Lands within municipal boundaries with
improvements or that lie within a planned
or approved subdivision, or

2) Lands outside municipalities on which
improvements have been made.

Put another way, Inuit-owned lands are
exempt from taxation if they are outside
municipalities and used only for traditional
activities. Bill 55 does not propose to change
this situation.

Not only does the current approach make
sense to us, but crucially, we cannot change
the Nunavut Agreement or legislate in ways
that go against the Nunavut Agreement, which
takes precedence over territorial legislation.
One of the requirements of the Nunavut
Agreement is that when Inuit-owned lands are
taxed, they must be taxed in accordance with
the laws of general application. This means
that the law cannot treat certain taxable
privately owned lands, in this case Inuit-
owned lands, differently from other taxable
privately owned lands. It means that when the
government or the Legislative Assembly
makes amendments to laws of general
application, they cannot do so with the intent
of treating certain taxable privately owned
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lands differently from other taxable privately
owned lands.

Although the Nunavut Agreement is clear
when Inuit-owned lands are taxable, it is not
quite so clear on who should be assessed
those taxes. That is left to the laws of general
application, such as the Property Assessment
and Taxation Act, and this is one of the issues
we intend to clarify through Bill 55.

What does it mean to be the “assessed owner”
under the Act? In short, this simply clarifies
who is on the hook to the government at the
end of the day for paying taxes. Being an
“assessed owner” for tax purposes does not
change actual ownership or other rights. It just
means we know who to assess the taxes to
first and who to collect from in the end.

Mr. Chairman and Members, our starting
position, as you may remember from our early
internal work, was to amend the legislation to
confirm that landowners were to be assessed
the full taxes on their property. We were
planning to use Bill 55 to clarify that
landowners in Nunavut were also, for tax
purposes, the assessed owners. This is how all
private property owners are currently treated.

Mr. Chairman and Members, before drafting
Bill 55, we reached out to Inuit organizations
to invite their input. Seeking feedback from
Inuit organizations is an important and normal
part of our legislative process. During these
consultations, Inuit organizations expressed
their clear preference that, for the purposes of
general taxation, the Government of Nunavut
should treat Inuit-owned lands like Crown
lands. Their feedback included written
responses to our initial letter, email
exchanges, and in-person responses during
our meetings. We appreciated their
engagement.
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Under their recommended approach, the
Government would treat Inuit organizations
like a public government and assess taxes to
the lessee, the individual or firm leasing the
land, instead of assessing the taxes to the
landowner. In order to adopt the Inuit
organizations’ recommended approach and
comply with the Nunavut Agreement’s
requirement that Inuit-owned lands be taxed
in accordance with the laws of general
application, Bill 55 would need to treat all
privately owned lands across Nunavut the
same way as Crown lands. This is simply not
a reasonable approach. However, we took this
feedback seriously, and developed Bill 55 in a
way that partly accommodates their request
while also complying with the Nunavut
Agreement.

As proposed, Bill 55 would create the
following situations, which would apply to all
private landowners, including Inuit
organizations.

In cases where the landowner has only surface
rights and where subsurface resources (like
minerals) are being extracted through a
mining operation, Bill 55 proposes the
government would assess the landowner only
for the value of the land. Separately, the
government would assess the lessee, the firm
leasing the land, for the value of any
improvements associated with their operations
on the land (e.g. mining). So far, this largely
aligns with the recommendation from Inuit
organizations.

However, in cases where the landowner owns
both surface and subsurface rights, Bill 55
proposes to maintain the existing system,
which is to assess the landowner for both the
value of the land and of all improvements
made to it. In this way, Mr. Chairman and
Members, we modified our initial position to
accommodate the feedback we heard from
Inuit organizations through our consultation
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process with them. We think Bill 55 has
reached a reasonable middle ground on this
point, though acknowledge it does not fully
satisfy their preferred approach.

We also recognize that our “made-in-
Nunavut” approach does not neatly align in
every way with approaches that other
provinces and territories have taken. You will
not be able to point to another system in
Canada and match it identically to what we
are proposing here. Members will appreciate
that this is much like the Nunavut Agreement
itself, which is unique to Nunavut and sets out
aspects of land ownership and taxability that
do not apply outside Nunavut. We have
drafted Bill 55 to align with the Nunavut
Agreement, not necessarily to align with other
land claim agreements or provincial laws.

Importantly, we are not suggesting that
landowners must be the ones to bear the cost
of the tax. Inuit organizations already require
land leases and other agreements with their
tenants. These agreements are robust, legally
binding, and already set out a range of
requirements and expectations of the tenant.
Such agreements allow landowners to pass
along the costs of property taxes to the
tenants. Indeed, we fully support and expect
that Inuit organizations would recover the
costs of any tax assessed to them under the
Nunavut Agreement, like a landlord of an
apartment complex recovers costs by charging
rent to the tenants.

Streamlining Review of Initial Complaints

Mr. Chairman and Members, I have so far
addressed one component of Bill 55. Through
this bill we are also proposing to improve the
overall management of property assessment
and taxation processes in Nunavut.

We are proposing to streamline the initial
complaints process. Right now this process

APLPRDC Lol 55, aHLer®
Q0T LI T PNDEITLE AcCA LKA
AHLPYDLAPLLE IP<oC CdULYoE,

AcCALOKT® 0a D <GPS LD CLa,
LeS\DNMLAPULLS A A< DR,
AP0 ba Cl LRLSHSADLo
AAD®ILoPYo< . AU<da®

Nbd<Ic/Jea L*MDJ baClm <ddodot. DRJC
ADc5dv*LeC Nodo. Lcbebsene
DAJAONDDC 00 2 A+ PN*LNDIP< S,
LAD>ANY 50 0a D <HLo ePJND<Ho
0aSbSa>< oal*c MCof,
ColLeC>J%a So* Mg, IDNb Dot
0a.2¢ /c Co. NNGHILDJC, Lclbhse 55T
LcS/<Sd Od 0a D <*PPND>YC,
LcNA%Q *Meb oS ANe J/* g

0a CPNDYLIc? DR 5 A/ SC
LRLSHSAE LMo,

ALLAD o< 5, DSbGA*NCDYC,
0a.5b®IH®IC JPEc_ADIN<SbSa*LaC
Céla®, AoAC NMdN*NC Ac oacC
DeIIPNreo®, AP Negts APAYLC
DI b, CLbdd <*MPNC

Accc L/ ANe <L LeN<IEs,

o nD>ECD>IC 5 4D®DL®Ie, CLed<d *MPNC
0a5b®IIt IPENYJa A ULLC
DBIADI 0. @ * N, AbIPITBILBLDC,
onD>®>J 5 AoAS NMSIN*NE KPS a®
DNSAD>L*a GLSLC CorLPND>I®

0a. CPNINE, A5 A“>5dNsbeDe
APENSZ AYLLC DD,

ACPY NS/ RS
D> 5SNDrasedgsre

AP RPC® | LD, Ac Lea
AcA*ado<do® Llbhse 55-T DbDYsbso>%L
LcLPSNJS, IDcSdnDC Gopn<bbasd<oNe
> CPRAGNC ASINT® SHD>AN®C >R C
<L CyPNDREODG® 0 DM

ADSINSUC ACDPSNTP<Sd< N
Co/LPNDREDC, [ 2. ADYDRD®

11



requires two layers of quasi-judicial
administrative proceedings. The existing
legislation provides mechanisms for
individuals to address disagreements with
assessments or to appeal factors impacting
their assessment by submitting a complaint to
a territorial board of revision. Currently the
board consists of at least three appointed
members and is mandated to hear complaints
related to assessments. The board conducts
hearings in response to complainants
regarding issues, such as assessed value,
property classes, exemptions, and clerical
errors. Many of these initial issues are
straightforward and relatively administrative
in nature.

Issues that escalated beyond the board of
revision go on to a separate assessment appeal
tribunal, another level of process. Issues that
escalate beyond the tribunal go to the courts.
Each layer adds complexity, time, and costs
for all parties involved.

Bill 55 proposes to transfer the first-level
responsibilities currently before the Territorial
Board of Revision to the director of
assessment, an employee of the Department of
Community and Government Services. We
[expect] the proposed reassignment of the
board’s responsibilities will improve the
efficiency of this first-level review of
complaints. By being able to better manage
administrative issues in house, we hope to
improve the overall complaints system,
keeping the other layers of decision-makers
for more complicated issues.

It is important to emphasize that those making
the complaints will remain eligible to escalate
issues to an assessment appeal tribunal. If
complainants do not agree with the first-level
decisions of the director, they retain the right
to a second level of review. This is entirely
appropriate. However, we expect our
proposed approach will be able to
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productively address most initial concerns,
those that do not need multiple layers of
review, in a more streamlined way. The
amendment to legislation will also improve
the handling of complaints by clarifying the
process and timelines of submitting
complaints, as well as detailed information on
the content required within a complaint.

Additional Measures

Mr. Chairman and Members, the complexity
of matters being dealt with by the Assessment
Appeal Tribunal have increased in recent
years.

The bill provides additional measures to
reduce disruptions in matters before the
tribunal by allowing tribunal members to
continue participating in appeals that extend
beyond their appointed term. This issue has
posed a challenge in previously scheduled
hearings. Bill 55 proposes changes to address
this issue in the future by ensuring continuity
within the tribunal until conclusion of specific
appeals.

Bill 55 also includes amendments intended to
improve assessment practices and reduce the
number of complaints associated with
differential interpretations of common
assessment elements. For example,
disagreement regarding the classification of
types of machinery and equipment that may
be assessed as improvements is a common
element of complaints submitted to the
Territorial Board of Revision and subsequent
appeals submitted to the Assessment Appeal
Tribunal.

Additionally, Bill 55 proposes amendments to
the enforcement provisions of the Act to
recognize that most land in Nunavut is leased
from the government, including municipal,
territorial and federal governments. The
existing enforcement provisions are primarily
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targeted at privately owned lands and do not
adequately address lands leased from the
government.

Bill 55 also incorporates the requirements of
the Nunavut Agreement that Inuit-owned
lands cannot be seized to pay for tax arrears.
In summary, amendments in Bill 55 would
make the enforcement provisions more
appropriate to Nunavut’s circumstances while
complying with the requirements of the
Nunavut Agreement.

The amendments proposed within Bill 55
introduce modern, comprehensive definitions
of machinery and equipment that will help
clarify qualifying assets and should reduce the
volume of complaints in relation to other
assessments.

Conclusion

In conclusion, Mr. Chairman and Members,
Bill 55 proposes to support the fair and
responsive management of property
assessment and taxation measures in Nunavut.
We drafted this bill in consultation with Inuit
organizations. My colleagues and I considered
the feedback they provided, both written and
oral, and incorporated it into this bill before
this Assembly. We admit the approach we
propose here is not exactly what they
requested but think Bill 55 presents a
reasonable middle ground.

Bill 55 aligns with the Nunavut Agreement, as
it must. Bill 55 does not align entirely with
approaches used elsewhere in Canada.

Bill 55 does not create a new tax nor does it
change the taxability of Inuit-owned lands; it
cannot, as this is already established in the
Nunavut Agreement. Instead, Bill 55 clarifies
that in certain circumstances the lessees are to
be assessed the value of the improvements.
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Bill 55 also proposes more administrative
improvements.

I would like to thank you for your time and
consideration of this important issue. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman, Members, and guests.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you,
Minister Ehaloak. Nunavut Tunngavik
Incorporation is also participating through
Zoom. I now give you the floor,
(interpretation ends) President Kotierk.
(interpretation) Welcome and you may now
begin.

Ms. Kotierk: Unnusakkut, Chairperson Main,
Co-Chairperson Towtongie, and Members of
the Standing Committee on Legislation.

Before I begin, I would like to highlight that I
have Kilikvak Kabloona, the Chief Executive
Officer for Nunavut Tunngavik Incorporated,
here with me, as well as Carson Gillis, who
has already been recognized. He is the
director of lands out of Cambridge Bay.

We appreciate the opportunity to make
presentations to you on this important topic.

The impact of this legislation would be far-
reaching; it would transfer millions of dollars
in legal and financial liabilities from mining
companies to Inuit, and make Inuit
organizations liable for potentially millions of
dollars in unpaid property taxes if a mining
company becomes insolvent. In other words,
the Government of Nunavut intentionally
chose an approach that would harm Inuit and
benefit private companies from outside
Nunavut.

We urge the Members of the Committee to
reject the bill in its current form.

Inuit organizations had made a detailed joint
submission. I will be happy to answer any
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questions you may have on the submission.
We will use the opportunity now to

e Highlight the lack of justifications for the
Government of Nunavut’s proposal; and

e Use Baffinland’s Mary River project to
illustrate how the Government of Nunavut
receives substantial revenue from mining
companies and has the ability to fund its
tax own collection efforts.

Lack of justifications for the Government
of Nunavut’s proposal

The fundamental issue is who, Inuit or mining
companies, should be legally responsible for
paying for property taxes for mining
improvements on Inuit-owned lands where
Inuit own mineral interest.

I would note that the Government of Nunavut
has agreed that on Inuit-owned lands where
the Crown owns mineral interest, mining
companies should be made legally responsible
for paying for property taxes for mining
improvements. This represents a positive
change in the bill that is not in the current
legislation.

However, on Inuit-owned lands where Inuit
owns mineral interest, also known as
subsurface, the Government of Nunavut
believes that Inuit, instead of the mining
companies, should be responsible for property
taxes for mining improvements made and
owned by mining companies.

It is worth pointing out that until recently and
except in the case of Baffinland Iron Ore
Corporation’s Mary River project, the
Government of Nunavut’s general practice
has been to assess against mining companies
for mining improvements, a practice
consistent with the intent and spirit of the
Article 22 of the Nunavut Agreement as well
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as the universal practice across this country.

The Government of Nunavut now proposes to
transfer the property tax burden on certain
Inuit-owned lands from mining companies to
regional Inuit associations, or make regional
Inuit associations tax collectors as well as
guarantors for the Government of Nunavut.

The Government of Nunavut had a choice:
they could have chosen mining companies
instead of Inuit organizations. It would have
been a policy option that is easily acceptable
to all parties, including the mining industry.

That option would have also bypassed or
avoided an interpretative dispute between the
Government of Nunavut and Inuit
organizations on the interpretation of Article
22 of the Nunavut Agreement. The
interpretive dispute is currently before the
Nunavut Assessment Appeal Tribunal and
will likely be heading to court.

In other jurisdictions, where the property tax
burden is placed on mining companies
directly, the government is able to collect
against mining improvements, including
placing a special lien on these improvements.
The Government of Nunavut has not fully
explained why it decided to give away this
valuable collection tool and focus on regional
Inuit associations as the only possible
collection targets.

The Government of Nunavut appears to
justify its unexplainable choice on two
grounds: (1) Inuit organizations receive
royalties; and (2) Inuit could contractually
require mining companies to pay the taxes.

On the first ground, other public
organizations, including governments, also
receive royalties from Crown lands but are not
made responsible for paying property taxes
for mining improvements.
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Inuit organizations have been recognized by
the governments, for many purposes, as
public bodies performing the function of a
government, and are holding Inuit-owned
lands for the collective benefit of Inuit, and
should be treated akin to governments instead
of a private, for-profit entity like a mining
company or a regular private land owner.

On the second ground, the Government of
Nunavut would also have the opportunity, by
contracts or legislation, to require mining
companies to pay taxes.

Simply because Inuit organizations may
require mining companies to pay contractually
does not mean Inuit would not be facing
substantial legal and financial risks. For
example, if Baffinland became insolvent, the
Qikiqgtani Inuit Association could be
responsible for paying millions of dollars in
property taxes, based on Bill 55.

Mining companies control when and how to
make mining improvements, and own and
derive the primary benefits from the
improvements. Mining companies come to
Nunavut to make profits, and should be made
responsible for paying property taxes on their
Oown improvements.

Instead of working with Inuit organizations to
maximize tax revenues from mining
developments, the Government of Nunavut
chose to escalate an internal fight with Inuit
organizations, essentially giving mining
companies a free pass, at least in terms of
legal liabilities on property taxes. In other
words, the Government of Nunavut
intentionally chose an approach that would
harm Inuit and benefit private companies
from outside Nunavut.

Baffinland Example:

As of September 2020, Baffinland had paid,
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since commencing production in 2014:

e To the Government of Nunavut, $53
million of total revenue in payroll and fuel
taxes ($68 million if including the $15
million of property tax in dispute)

e To the Qikiqgtani Inuit Association, $67
million of total revenue in advance
royalties and rent for land lease.

e No royalties to Nunavut Tunngavik
Incorporated are expected before 2030.

The current Baffinland production is on
subsurface Inuit-owned lands with a
grandfathered royalty regime.

Including property taxes, the Government of
Nunavut would have received more revenue
each year from Baffinland than Inuit
organizations would have to date. It is fair to
say that the Government of Nunavut is in a
position to fund any tax collection efforts
against Baffinland or other mining companies.

In sum, there is simply no need for the
Government of Nunavut to transfer tax
liabilities from mining companies to Inuit
organizations for the sake of facilitating tax
collection.

Illegality of Some of the Government of
Nunavut’s Proposed Amendments

Further, Inuit organizations are extremely
alarmed by the Government of Nunavut’s
unreasonable approach in attempting to
amend the Nunavut Agreement through Bill
55.

The Supreme Court of Canada, the highest
legal authority in Canada, has stated that
legislatures may not pass laws that undermine
the Constitution as the supreme law in all
Canada. However, this is precisely what the
Government of Nunavut proposed to do.
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The Nunavut Agreement is a constitutionally

protected modern treaty. The Crown and Inuit

painstakingly negotiated its terms over
decades.

Negotiators included an entire article on how
and when Inuit-owned lands in Nunavut may
and may not be taxed. Article 22 limits the
Government of Nunavut’s ability to tax Inuit-
owned lands in the hinterland or outside
municipalities to situations where taxes are
for “local government services and
improvements including for schools and
water,” a limitation that makes sense,
otherwise Inuit lands could be taxed when the
Government of Nunavut provides no services.

The above definition was intentionally made
to be different from and narrower than the

property tax definition in Property Assessment

and Taxation Act, which defines it as “for
territorial purposes.”

The Government of Nunavut introduced a
new provision in Bill 55, section 48, which
declares that “all property tax raised” are
deemed for “local government services and
improvements.” Through this provision, the
Government of Nunavut is attempting to
amend the property tax definition in the
Nunavut Agreement, which is not only
dishonourable but illegal. Territorial
legislation cannot amend a constitutionally
protected treaty like the Nunavut Agreement.

The Government of Nunavut took it a step
further by making those illegal amendments
apply retroactively. In other words, the
Government of Nunavut is adding new
sections that are illegal, and then makes those
new illegal sections apply to situations since
the creation of Nunavut in 1999.

In our view, the Government of Nunavut is
constitutionally barred in applying Bill 55
retroactively given its clear and illegal impact
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to Inuit aboriginal and treaty rights protected
by sections 25 and 35 of the Constitution.

If Bill 55 passes as is, Nunavut Tunngavik
Incorporated would have no choice but to
seriously consider legal avenues to protect the
Nunavut Agreement and Inuit rights.

Conclusion

Bill 55 would improperly transfer millions of
dollars in property tax liabilities from mining
companies to Inuit, and illegally infringe on
Inuit rights. It was the wrong choice for Inuit
and wrong choice for Nunavut.

Core sections of the bill need to be revised
substantially to be consistent with Article 22
of the Nunavut Agreement and the universal
practice across this country.

We urge the Members of the Committee to
reject the bill in its current form.
(interpretation) Thank you.

Chairman: Qujannamiik, President Kotierk.
(interpretation) Moving on. Baffinland Iron
Mines Corporation officials are participating
in the meeting, if they are available through
Zoom. It doesn’t look like there’s anyone. Oh,
there he is. Welcome. (interpretation ends)
Welcome, Mr. Moore, on behalf of Baffinland
Iron Mines. The floor is yours.

Mr. Moore: Thank you, Mr. Chairman and
Members of the Committee. My name is
Andrew Moore, Manager of Government
Relations and Public Affairs with the
Baffinland Iron Mines Corporation.
Baffinland is the owner and operator of the
Mary River Iron Ore Project located on North
Baffin Island, approximately 160 kilometres
south of Pond Inlet. This project sits largely
on Inuit-owned lands, which Baffinland leases
for its activities from the Qikiqtani Inuit
Association.
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Baffinland thanks the Committee and the
Legislative Assembly for the kind invitation
to present here today. I extend the sincere
apologies of Baffinland’s Vice-president of
Community and Strategic Development, Ms.
Udlu Hanson, who wanted to be here today
but is travelling.

I will make very brief opening remarks and
then would be happy to answer any questions
from Committee Members. If there are any
questions that I am unable to answer today,
Baffinland would be pleased to submit written
responses to the Committee, if requested.

As Members of the Committee may be aware,
Baffinland is currently engaged in an
“Assessment Appeal Tribunal” process
concerning property tax assessments for Mary
River. At this point in the process, Baffinland
and the other parties to the appeal have made
their submissions to the tribunal and the
tribunal is in the process of reviewing the
submissions in order to render their decision.
As this matter is currently before the tribunal,
I will not be responding to questions related to
that process.

Baffinland would like to thank the
Government of Nunavut and former Minister
of Community and Government Services
Kusugak and current Minister Ehaloak for
bringing this legislation forward.

We have reviewed Bill 55, An Act to Amend
the Property Assessment and Taxation Act,
and offer the following observation for the
Committee’s consideration:

e Baffinland will limit its comments to one
specific provision of Bill 55, which is
section 48, subsection 10, which states
“All property tax raised in the general
taxation area under the previous Act since
April 1, 1999 is deemed to have been
raised to fund local government services
and improvements within the general
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taxation area.”

e Baffinland is concerned that this provision
of the bill retroactively imposes taxes
under the guise of being used to fund local
government services and improvements
that have not and will not be provided.

e As such, Baffinland respectfully requests
that section 48, subsection 10 be struck
from the bill or otherwise clarified as to its
intent and application.

Baffinland continues to make substantial
payments in taxes to the Government of
Nunavut through both the payroll tax and fuel
tax. Since 2017, taxes paid by Baffinland to
the Government of Nunavut have totalled
over $52 million. In 2020 alone, this
amounted to approximately $15 million.

Baffinland remains hopeful that it can
continue to invest in Nunavut to support the
growing economy and to create opportunities
for growth in government tax revenues
through its operations. We remain committed
to being a partner of the Government of
Nunavut, especially through the joint
priorities identified in our memorandum of
understanding which was signed in 2019.

Thank you again, Mr. Chairman and Members
of the Committee, for providing Baffinland
this opportunity. (interpretation) Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Thank you, Mr. Moore.
(interpretation) Moving on. Agnico Eagle
Mines officials are also participating in the
meeting through Zoom, if they are available.
(interpretation ends) We may be having
technical difficulties with the attendants by
Zoom, as I cannot see anybody currently from
Agnico Eagle. Mr. Plante from Agnico Eagle,
Martin Plante, yes, we can hear you and now
we can see you. Mr. Plante, the floor is yours.
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Mr. Plante: Mr. Chairman and Members of
the Committee, (interpretation) good day.
(interpretation ends) I would like to thank the
Standing Committee on Legislation for
inviting me here today to speak about Agnico
Eagle’s views on Bill 55, An Act to Amend the
Property Assessment and Taxation Act. We
have followed the Committee’s work with
interest and are happy to provide the
Committee with any assistance that we can.

My name is Martin Plante. I am the vice-
president of operations in Nunavut for Agnico
Eagle. I have the pleasure of being
accompanied today by Mr. Pat McNamara,
Vice-president of Taxation at Agnico Eagle
and also Mr. Alex Baltov, Senior Consultant,
Property Tax, with Ryan LLP, our tax
advisory firm.

Let me begin my opening statement by
providing some context about Agnico Eagle
and our work in Nunavut.

Overview of Agnico Eagle and its Nunavut
Operations

Agnico Eagle is a global gold producer with
mines in three countries, Canada, Mexico, and
Finland, and nearly 12,000 employees and
contractors. We are headquartered in Canada
and are the largest producer of gold in Canada
and one of the top 10 worldwide.

Agnico Eagle has been in business now for
more than 64 years. Our mission is simple: we
work hard to be a high-quality, easy-to-
understand business, one that generates
superior long-term returns for our
shareholders, creates a great place to work for
our employees, and contributes positively to
the communities and countries in which we
operate.

I am proud to say that Agnico Eagle has
earned a reputation as a partner of choice
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within our industry for being reliable,
operating with respect for others, for building
trust and sharing opportunity with all our
stakeholders.

One of our most meaningful partnerships is
with the government, partners, peers, and
people of Nunavut, where we currently
operate the Meliadine and Amaruq mines,
along with our Meadowbank mining complex
in the Kivalliq region, as well as our newest
acquisition, TMAC Resources with the Hope
Bay project in the Kitikmeot region.

Generating Employment and Economic
Benefits

Nunavut, as the rest of Canada, has the
ambition to build a strong and diversified
economy. The substantial economic
contribution of mining — the revenues we
generate for governments, the businesses we
create to support our activities, the people we
train and educate — provides the foundation
upon which a strong, diversified economy is
built.

Agnico Eagle plans to be in Nunavut for the
long term and we are determined to help build
the social and economic infrastructure that is
so vital to the North’s future.

Here are a few numbers demonstrating our
contribution to Nunavut:

e We are the largest miner and largest
private sector employer in Nunavut.

e In 2020 we directly and indirectly
employed 2,940 full-time positions for
employees and contractors, 378 of which
were filled by Inuit.

e In 2020 still, more than $200 million was
paid in salaries for our Meliadine and
Meadowbank operations, and of this, more
than $25 million was paid to Inuit
employees.
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e In 2020 the amounts paid to the Kivalliq
communities in donations and
sponsorships totalled more than $1.4
million.

e Agnico Eagle is the largest road builder
and owner in Nunavut, with over 200
kilometres developed to date at a cost of
over $200 million.

e Since 2007 we have invested in Nunavut
over $7 billion.

e Agnico Eagle now represents more than
25 percent of Nunavut’s GDP.

Of course, in 2020 the COVID-19 pandemic
created unique challenges to the communities
in which Agnico Eagle operates, including in
Nunavut. We worked closely with local
authorities and businesses to leverage our
ability to access materials to support the most
vulnerable people and to provide critical
health, safety, food and other supplies.
Among the actions taken, we delivered food
baskets and supported food banks, provided
hygiene and PPE supplies to communities,
and provided workforce, equipment, and
material for community-led support initiatives
through our “Good Deeds Brigade.”

Due to the risks presented by COVID-19,
beginning in March 2020, Agnico Eagle took
measures to isolate its Nunavut operations
from local communities with the aim of
minimizing any risk of the virus spreading to
these communities. As part of these isolation
protocols, designed to reduce the risk to the
people, we sent all of our Nunavut-based
workforce (employees and contractors) home
from the Meliadine and Meadowbank
operations as well as the exploration projects.
Employees remaining at home have been
receiving 75 percent of their base pay. I want
to note that Agnico Eagle hasn’t applied to the
Canada Emergency Wage Subsidy. [ am
happy to report that with the recent progress
of the COVID-19 vaccination program, our
Nunavummiut employees will start working
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within our sites starting this week.
Agnico Eagle’s Contribution to Nunavut

In 2014 the Canadian mining industry adopted
disclosure of payments to governments as a
best practice and we have always been a
strong supporter of this initiative. Agnico
Eagle has a long tradition of ensuring
accountability and transparency, and we are
committed to building on this.

Our company publicly discloses on an annual
basis specific payments to governments,
including taxes and royalties, as per the
Canadian Extractive Sector Transparency
Measures Act, commonly known as ESTMA,
and our 2020 ESTMA report was recently
filed.

Let me briefly summarize Agnico Eagle’s
contribution and payment arrangements for
2020:

e In 2020 Agnico Eagle’s Meadowbank and
Meliadine mines contributed
approximately $27.5 million in taxes,
royalties, fees, and compensation
payments in Nunavut, both to the
Government of Nunavut and to Inuit
organizations representing Inuit
beneficiaries under the Nunavut Land
Claims Agreement.

e As mentioned previously, Agnico Eagle
acquired TMAC Resources in February of
this year. In 2020 TMAC paid
approximately $9.5 million in taxes,
royalties, fees, and compensation
payments both to the Government of
Nunavut and to Inuit organizations
representing Inuit beneficiaries under the
Nunavut Land Claims Agreement.

e Property tax invoices are sent annually by
the Government of Nunavut directly to
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Agnico Eagle. Invoice payments are
issued by Agnico Eagle to the
Government of Nunavut and this is a
process that we follow diligently and one
with which we are comfortable.

e The issue of the payment of property taxes
is not included in the leasing arrangements
for our different properties, Meadowbank
Complex, Meliadine and Hope Bay mines.

e We also have four separate Inuit Impact
and Benefit Agreements (IIBA) with the
Kivalliq Inuit Association (KivIA) and,
following our recent acquisition of TMAC
Resources, one IIBA with the Kitikmeot
Inuit Association (Kit[A). Since 2007 we
have paid more than $109 million in
royalties and fees to both Nunavut
Tunngavik Incorporation (NTI) and the
Kivalliq Inuit Association.

e Royalty payments for gold extracted are
paid directly to NTI, the designated Inuit
organization overseeing mineral
development on Inuit-owned lands, and
the payment of royalties pursuant to the
[IBAs is issued by Agnico Eagle directly
to the Kivalliq Inuit Association and the
Kitikmeot Inuit Association.

Application of Bill 55

Given that Agnico Eagle is the largest mining
company in Nunavut and that Bill 55 has
particularly technical aspects related to
property assessment and taxation, we
welcome this opportunity to express our
views on the present bill.

Our understanding is that the Property
Assessment and Taxation Act, as proposed to
be amended by Bill 55, is the law that sets out
how the territorial government collects taxes
on private property located in Nunavut.
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Following Agnico Eagle’s analysis of the
proposed amendments to the Property
Assessment and Taxation Act set out in Bill
55, it is our opinion that the proposed changes
will not significantly impact our operations.

However, guided by a constructive intent and
out of respect for the ongoing process, we
would like to draw to the attention of the
Committee the following observations
regarding the fundamentals of the Property
Assessment and Taxation Act and avenues we
see for consideration:

e We note that while other jurisdictions
have similar tax structures, the Northwest
Territories and Nunavut are the only
Canadian jurisdictions that levy property
taxes at significant levels. In particular we
note that mines in similarly remote areas
in other jurisdictions of Canada do not pay
property taxes.

e Regarding the scope of the taxable
improvements, we would like to draw
your attention to the following points:

O In relation to underground
improvements, piping and pumping
for underground water evacuation,
ducting and venting, electrical
components, and lunch and safety
shacks located in underground mines,
these items are currently considered
taxable equipment. However, our
understanding is that they constitute
additional extraordinary costs
compared to open pit operations that
do not require such facilities or
equipment.

e We also observed that based on the
current legislation, a significant portion of
property taxes must be paid during the
closure and reclamation period of an
operation. For example, road liabilities at
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closure are currently taxable. We would
suggest that it would be interesting to
consider that this infrastructure would be
kept as a legacy to the communities.

Always in a constructive spirit, we would be
open to discuss any of these items further with
the Committee in the future.

Conclusion

To conclude, Agnico Eagle generates direct
economic value to Nunavut through tax and
royalty payments, local hiring and
procurement, and community investments.
We work together with communities to assess
potential opportunities to enhance local
economic benefits and create economic
prosperity beyond the life of our mines.

We view Nunavut as a welcoming place to do
business. In fact we would not be where we
are today without the support we have
received from Inuit leaders, communities,
government, and businesses since the moment
we arrived in 2007.

Agnico Eagle has always fulfilled its financial
obligations and it is our intent to continue to
do so. We are committed in building
relationships with our stakeholders based on
trust through open and transparent
communication and full disclosure of
payments to all levels of government.

This concludes my opening statement. My
colleagues and I would be pleased to answer
your questions. (interpretation) Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Plante, for your comments. Moving on.
(interpretation ends) Our last witness to
deliver an opening statement is the Northwest
Territories and Nunavut Chamber of Mines,
Mr. Dobbin.
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Mr. Dobbin: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for
allowing yourself and the Committee allowing
us to speak today. I’'m sure everybody has the
submission from the chamber of mines.

By way of introduction, this is who we are:
we have been around for 50 years and our
vision and mission is to be a strong supporter
of healthy and responsible mineral
development in the NWT and Nunavut.

I’m the general manager of the Nunavut office
and Ken Armstrong, who joins us here today,
I don’t know if Ken is there or not...is Ken on
the line? Probably. Oh, yes, okay, there you
are. Okay, our chamber president, Ken
Armstrong, is on the line. Many of you may
know Ken from his other job as president and
CEO of Norterra Minerals exploring for
diamonds there in Naujaat. Hi Ken.

In our short presentation today, we want to
deliver these key messages to you today:

e Mining is significantly important to
Nunavut;

e Nunavut is really a costly jurisdiction,
adding challenges to our mines;

e The property tax regime in Nunavut is
unique in Canada and adds additional cost
pressures; and

e We will close with some alternatives for
the Committee to consider.

The chart that is in front of you shows how
mining has grown significantly in Nunavut.
As you can see, there were no mines operating
in Nunavut in 2009 and the value of
production in Nunavut was zero.

Since 2010 we have seen openings of the
Meadowbank gold mine, Mary River iron
mine, Hope Bay gold and the Meliadine gold
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mines. As a result, mining production has
risen rather quickly from zero to nearly $1.5
billion in value at last report.

Also it’s shown in our submission that mining
pays wages to workers, buys goods, supplies
and operates the mines, and pays various
taxes to government.

In 2019 Nunavut’s mines employed over
5,000 workers and spent $1.8 billion, and
about a quarter of those jobs went to
Nunavummiut and about half of the spending
went to Nunavut companies as well. These are
fantastic benefits and there is room to increase
these and generate even more taxes paid to
government down the road.

But as you see, if you follow along in the
submission, Nunavut is also a very expensive
place to live and work. For the mineral
industry, it can cost up to six times more to
explore in Nunavut, up to 2.5 times to build a
mine, and up to 60 percent more to operate a
mine. This in general makes it more
challenging to work here, particularly when
mineral prices go down. Industry doesn’t face
these challenges in southern Canada, where
there is so much more infrastructure.

Again, as I proceed with the submission,
another reason costs are high in Nunavut is
because our remote mines must look after
themselves entirely, they must provide their
own power and their own roads, ports, rails,
and airports, they must provide camps for
their workers with recreational facilities and
medical facilities too, and like a community,
the mines must provide their own services like
water and sewer and garbage. All of these are
added costs that most mines in southern
Canada don’t have to pay. All of these are
costs and business risks to northern mines.

As you can see in my submission, there are
some examples from Nunavut and the NWT
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just in the past 12 years, as you can see, there
was, thankfully, a strong and healthy gold and
iron prices that helped the mines last year, not
like diamond prices in the NWT that actually
put one mine into bankruptcy protection.

No one can control the market prices, but
government certainly can take action to help
the industry with costs like taxes, and as you
can see again on our next submission, the
government used to help the mining industry
more than today. A good example was
Nanisivik, where the government owned 18
percent of the mine and provided much of the
community services like the town site, the
dock, the airport, and the roads. Sadly,
government does not support like this
anymore and companies have to do
everything themselves.

Again, property taxes also add extra costs and
they can be significant. We’re not exactly sure
of the exact figure for Nunavut and perhaps
the GN can make that information readily
available, but in the NWT, where Nunavut’s
tax originated, you can see that the diamond
mines have paid over $250 million in property
taxes, and that’s a lot of money for those
services.

Moving on, we would make some
observations on property taxes:

e Property taxes are generally meant to help
pay for government/community services
like water, sewer and garbage, but in
Nunavut the mines provide all their own
municipal and community services.

e Remote mines in other provinces do not
pay property tax. The NWT and Nunavut
are the only Canadian jurisdictions that
levy property taxes on remote mines at
significant levels.

e Property taxes are regressive, which
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means mines must pay everything, PaPYc>G HIPNe

whether or not they’re losing money or Pa DY DG e 5PN, Lo

making money. This again adds additional CALASD*LE 0 2T DYSio<idc D>k
costs and business risk to Nunavut mines, CL*a Sd.oNyD A%, JPcse nee

and it also makes Nunavut less attractive >0 oo™ 06,

for mining investment. PaDyc>PCBHLOC*NT 0.

e Again, nobody knows where Nunavut
property taxes actually go. You guys
stipulate it is general revenue, but we’re
not really specifically sure what they’re
used for; they disappear into general
revenues and government use them for
various services. We’re not really entirely
sure what these services are. You say
schools, but again, we’re not totally sure
on that.
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do not charge property taxes on remote Lcbore p<La* DG eOc
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e Do not charge mines retroactively for any
tax missed. We’re not really sure or
understand clause 48(10) in Bill 55, which | * - WS, DPPEAJS ThoAMLE 48(10)
suggests maybe Baffinland... . Well, LaLA® 55 Ada DSO™ALMLS, AL
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section 48(10).
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the GN is actually collecting in property
taxes and what the money is actually used
for.
0 Ifyou’re adamant about keeping
property taxes, consider assigning
them possibly to a housing fund so
that communities can see another
benefit from mining in their

communities.

e If you’re looking for new tax revenue,
work to increase Nunavummiut
employment. We would respectfully
suggest that if you helped get another 800
Nunavummiut into mining jobs, it would
return tens of millions of dollars per year
in income tax alone, a bigger return than
property taxes.

Those are my recommendations. Thank you,
gujannamiik, ma’na, koana, merci.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Dobbin. The Committee has heard from the
witnesses. We will now be asking them
questions. (interpretation ends) We have just
heard the opening statements from the
witnesses and now to the Committee, that we
have heard the opening statements, also have
all the supporting documentation in your
packages to go off of, and now it’s the
Committee’s chance to question the witnesses
regarding this bill. I’ll open the floor to
questions. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
would also like to thank all of the delegates
for attending the hearings today. It was a great
opportunity to hear from each individual
organization directly and there was a lot of
pertinent information included in the opening
comments.

Before I get into my questions, I just would
like to express my respect for Agnico Eagle
Mines for their outstanding corporate social
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responsibility which clearly goes above and
beyond the current standards here in Nunavut.
Agnico Eagle has set the bar for all other
major employers in the territory to strive for,
and I wish there were economical gold
deposits in the Qikiqtani region and I hope
that prospectors will discover something soon.

Now to jump into my questions, I guess I’1l
start off and my first question will be for the
Government of Nunavut, Minister Ehaloak,
and the first found of questions will be taken
from the opening comments provided by
President Kotierk. I’'m assuming you have the
opening comments in front of you.

On page 1, item 3, it states that “The impact
of this legislation will be far-reaching and
would transfer millions of dollars in legal and
financial liabilities from mining companies to
Inuit, and make Inuit organizations liable for
potentially millions of dollars in unpaid
property taxes if a mining company becomes
insolvent. In other words, the Government of
Nunavut intentionally chose an approach that
would harm Inuit and benefit private
companies from outside of Nunavut.”

I was wondering if the Minister would like to
provide a response to that comment made.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Minister Ehaloak.

Hon. Jeannie Ehaloak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I thank the Member for his
question. When it comes to mining companies
becoming solvent and, for example, leaving a
mess on Inuit-owned lands, if the government
does not receive taxes from either the Inuit
organization or the mining company, the
Government of Nunavut is liable to make sure
that the land is assessed and properly cleaned
up environmentally. We would be liable to
pay those if we didn’t receive taxes from
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either the Inuit organization or the mining
company, so we would have to pay the brunt
of cleaning up with our own financial
resources. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Ms. Ehaloak, for that response.
Moving on in the same line of questioning, on
page 3 of President Kotierk’s opening
comments, item 19 digs a little further on that
specific example and states, “Simply because
Inuit organizations may require mining
companies to pay contractually does not mean
that Inuit would not be facing substantial legal
and financial risks. For example, if Baffinland
became insolvent, the Qikiqtani Inuit
Association would be responsible for paying
millions of dollars in property taxes based on
Bill 55.”

Digging a little further into that specific
statement, for example, Baffinland has, I
believe, a 100-year productivity life,
estimated 100-year lifetime worth of minerals
to extract, in the event that Baffinland did
become insolvent, I’'m assuming that another
entity would be more than happy to take
advantage of the richest iron ore deposit in the
world and continue operations for the
remainder of that 100-year lifecycle.

In the event that Baffinland did become
insolvent, would the GN then make the QIA
responsible for paying these back taxes or any
property tax liability or would the GN take a
different stance and say that “We understand
that there is a liability and we will give time
for the QIA to seek other interested mining
extraction companies to take on that liability
if they choose to purchase the property”?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Lightstone. (interpretation ends) As always in
Committee, we have to be cautious when it
comes to hypothetical questions and
hypothetical situations because once you go
into hypothetical land, there are 18 different
directions that you could hypothetically go in,
so it’s very difficult to answer those types of
questions, but I will give the Minister a
chance. Minister Ehaloak.

Hon. Jeannie Ehaloak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I thank the Member for his
question. If a company, if Baffinland were to
become solvent and another company took
over the project itself, then they would be
liable to pay taxes to the Government of
Nunavut. Currently Inuit organizations are
already liable for property taxes on Inuit-
owned lands when improvements have been
made.

What this bill is trying to do is set it so that
instead, the landowner should be the one to
pay the property taxes, not the person leasing
the property. We’re trying to streamline the
way property is assessed so that the process is
easier. I hope that answers the Member’s
question. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you again, Minister, for that response.
I’ll move on next to item 9 on page 2. It states
that ““...on Inuit-owned lands where Inuit own
mineral interest, also known as subsurface,
the Government of Nunavut believes that
Inuit, instead of the mining companies, should
be responsible for property taxes for mining
improvements made and owned by mining
companies.” I would also like to ask if the
Minister would like to provide a response to
that comment. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Minister Ehaloak.

Hon. Jeannie Ehaloak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. The landowner with the surface
rights only is assessed for land and
improvements. The landowners with
subsurface and surface rights are assessed for
land and improvements. The landowners with
surface rights only with a mine are assessed
for the land. Lessees on private lands are not
assessed for land or improvements.
Landowners with surface or subsurface rights,
lessees on private lands are not assessed for
land or improvements. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you,
Minister. (interpretation ends) If you will
allow me, Mr. Lightstone, the different
scenarios that the Minister just described, it’s
included in the legislative proposal, which is
one of the first documents the Committee
received on this bill and so I think the
question is: why was the decision made that
the landowner would be responsible for the
land and the improvements on subsurface... ?
When it’s a subsurface parcel, why was the
decision made to make the landowner
responsible for the land and the improvements
on these subsurface parcels? Minister.

Hon. Jeannie Ehaloak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Through you, I will ask Mr.
Ahlfors to answer your question. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Ahlfors.

Thank you. Mr. Seeley.

Mr. Seeley: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank
you, Minister. The decision to treat lands
where the landowner didn’t maintain the
subsurface rights, it was made in response to
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some of the feedback that was received in the
earlier stages of the consultation. In the
original proposal and in some of the earlier
discussions regarding Bill 55 and its initial
composition, the proposal was to treat all
Inuit-owned lands as private lands in that
sense. Following and as an outcome of the
consultations with the landowners, the
decision was ultimately made to make a
change where subsurface rights were not
possessed by the landowner to not make them
responsible for the improvements in regard to
that.

I hope that that answers the Member’s
question. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Mr. Lightstone,
apologies for hijacking your question. I’ll give
you one more and then I’ll move on to the
next person. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Moving on to my last question, it’s on page 5
and it’s item 31, which states that “The
Government of Nunavut introduced a new
provision in Bill 55, section 48, which
declares that ‘all property tax raised’ are
deemed for ‘local government services and
improvements.” Through this provision, the
Government of Nunavut is attempting to
amend the property tax definition in the
Nunavut Agreement, which is not only
dishonourable but illegal.” I was wondering if
the Minister would provide a response to that
allegation. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Minister Ehaloak.

Hon. Jeannie Ehaloak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I thank the Member for his
question. Because of the legalities to the
question, through you, Mr. Chairman, I’1l ask
Mr. Ahlfors to give a detailed answer to Mr.
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Lightstone. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Ahlfors.

Mr. Ahlfors: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. To
answer that question, I have to give a small
background in that the Property Assessment
and Taxation Act was not amended once the
Nunavut Agreement came into force, and so
what the Government of Nunavut has had to
do until now, when we are amending the Act
or attempting to amend the Act, is to read the
two documents together, Property Assessment
and Taxation Act and the Nunavut Agreement,
particularly Article 22, which deals with
taxation of Inuit-owned lands.

In these circumstances, for example, the
Property Assessment and Taxation Act says
that all fee simple land in Nunavut should be
taxed, but there is a lot of Inuit-owned land
out there that has no improvements on it. The
Property Assessment and Taxation Act says
that it should be taxed, but the Government of
Nunavut recognizes that in these
circumstances, the Nunavut Agreement states
that it’s not taxable, so because the Nunavut
Agreement prevails over the Property
Assessment and Taxation Act, the
Government of Nunavut has not been
assessing or taxing those empty pieces of
Inuit-owned lands or those that are only used
for traditional purposes.

In the same way, when the Government of
Nunavut has been collecting taxes from Inuit-
owned lands, it has been using those taxes for
local government services and improvements
by funding municipalities, by funding DEAs,
by funding schools. It has, perhaps, not
communicated that information the best way
it could to date, but the amount of taxes that
are collected are significantly less than the
amount that the GN provides to
municipalities, DEAs, and schools for local
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government services and improvements.

The matter of the fact is that since division

and perhaps before, but at least since division,

that is what these taxes have been funnelled
to, and so this amendment is simply to clarify
that that is what has been going on all along.
It’s an unfortunate fact that the Act was not
amended in 93, following the ratification of
the Nunavut Agreement, but the government
of Nunavut has always taken the steps
necessary to interpret and apply the Property
Assessment and Taxation Act in accordance
with the Nunavut Agreement and

unfortunately is only now making the changes
to the Act to sort of clearly put those on paper,

those practices that have already been
occurring with reading the Act and the
Nunavut Agreement together. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Before we move to the
next person on the list, I would just like to
give you a chance to respond, Minister. The
line that Mr. Lightstone just quoted from,
from Nunavut Tunngavik, characterizes this
as this bill is “dishonourable and illegal” or
that particular part of it. I would like to give
you a chance to respond to that, Minister
Ehaloak.

Hon. Jeannie Ehaloak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Since Nunavut was created, the
Government of Nunavut has always taxed for
properties. The Government of Nunavut has
not broken the Nunavut Agreement. We have
been taxing mining companies and the Inuit
organizations, as Mr. Ahlfors has stated, to
cover some of our costs within our
municipalities. It’s not new.

What this bill is trying to do is tax the
landowner rather than the mining company or
the company that’s using the Inuit-owned
lands. Should this bill pass, the Government
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of Nunavut will tax the Inuit organization.
The Inuit organization is the one who should
be passing those charges onto the lessees to
cover their costs. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Moving on. Mr. Qirngnugq.

Mr. Qirngnugq (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. Welcome to the meeting,
Minister and your officials, as well as those
who have come to make presentations on this
issue.

First of all, Mr. Chairman, with respect to
their opening comments, [ would like to make
a short comment on it, as the majority of us
representatives fight for our lands or rather of
our communities, irrespective of whether it is
on certain lands or not. Our focus is the local
priorities, and we all have goals we are trying
to attain, regardless of whether we are
involved in mining, government, or regular
MLASs, as we all have mandates to work
towards.

For us indigenous peoples, especially us Inuit,
we spent many years fighting hard for our
area, how it would be set up and thinking of
our options for the territory as discussions
took many years since the inception of these
negotiations. Due to this purpose, we look for
the best options that are conducive for the
goals of our constituents, and what priorities
will be focused on and how to deal with them,
as currently it is hard to determine the exact
direction it is trending towards.

Let me firstly turn to a different topic here, as
I wish to ask this question with your
permission, Mr. Chairman. It is related to the
questions submitted to our government, as
written in the correspondence of February 22
addressed to our Chairman. The listed concern
numbered 5 on page 4 speaks to this issue that
was reviewed in Committee of the Whole on
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February 22, 2021, as it identifies the amounts
owed. The amounts owed are by mining
companies to our government, as it states in
English which I don’t know how to translate
into Inuktitut, so I must state it in English,
(interpretation ends) Mary River
(interpretation) mine owing $11,999,245.70. 1
have a question on that amount owed. What is
the current amount of the funds owed by this
mining company and what is the status of this
amount payable by the company? That is my
question towards our government managers,
Mr. Chairman. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. It is
just under $12 million. Minister.

Hon. Jeannie Ehaloak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I thank the Member for his
question. Currently only Baffinland Iron
Mines owes taxes for the Mary River project
and the amount is $11,999,345.70. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Qirngnugq.

Mr. Qirngnuq (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. Has that number not changed
to date? Mr. Chairman, that’s my question.
Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Minister.

Hon. Jeannie Ehaloak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I thank the Member for his
question. The assessment is done on a yearly
basis, so that number will change every year.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Qirngnugq.

Mr. Qirngnuq (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. I’ll move on to something else.
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For clarity, I’ll have to say this in English, I
believe. (interpretation ends) In its news
release of November 10, 2020, Nunavut
Tunngavik Incorporated stated that “The GN
is asking Inuit Organizations to collect the
taxes on their behalf and cancel the leases of
mining companies when they do not pay the
tax, potentially forcing hundreds of Inuit
workers into unemployment.” What is the
Government of Nunavut’s response to these
concerns? (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Minister.

Hon. Jeannie Ehaloak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. When the mining company pays
taxes to the Government of Nunavut and the
mining companies say that it’s going to hurt
the mining companies themselves and
including Inuit employment or the workers, it
is not what this bill or the taxes do. All
mining companies currently have to pay taxes
on lands. As I stated before, what we’re trying
to streamline is that the Inuit organizations
should tax the mining companies on lands that
are on Inuit-owned lands and then when they
receive those taxes, the Government of
Nunavut would receive those taxes from the
Inuit organizations.

What we’re trying to do is to ensure that
there’s a one-way process. I’ll give an
example. If I owned an apartment building
and I was paying taxes to the City of Iqaluit, I
would not go to my renters and say “Here’s an
amount [ have to pay taxes on, here’s an
amount that I want you to pay so that I can
pay my taxes to the city.” As an owner of the
apartment building, I would include that
amount in the rent that the individual pays.
There is a process on how companies or
businesses receive their taxes and it’s to
streamline so that the Government of Nunavut
doesn’t have to use third parties to receive our
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taxes. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Qirngnugq.

Mr. Qirngnuq (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. That clarified it for me. Later
on when we get another chance to ask
questions on it, I’ll ask further questions. This
is just a general comment. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Welcome to everybody here today on Zoom
and in person. This is quite interesting.

I guess my first question is to the Minister.
Nunavut Tunngavik did a news release on
November 10, 2020 and they stated that “The
GN dismissed the ‘public’ nature of Inuit
Organizations and IOLs,” and they say that
the government “refused to follow the
precedent set in the NWT for Inuvialuit lands,
contradicting the increasing recognition by the
Government of Canada, as shown by the
recent example of the Inuit-Crown Partnership
Committee (ICPC).” I’'m wondering: what is
the Government of Nunavut’s response to
those concerns? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Minister.

Hon. Jeannie Ehaloak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Our agreement is like no other.
The Nunavut Agreement establishes Inuit-
owned lands and they are not subject to
taxation. Lands within municipal boundaries
with improvements or that lie within a
planned or approved division, lands outside
municipalities on which improvements can be
made, and under Article 22, because we’re a
unique territory, we have a unique agreement,

Co/L NN o<+ NLLC, SdY®al™, Ab/<RPCS®,

AP/ RPCSe: 'a. [C PHY®,

spayse: sd>q b AP/RPCc®. Cla
DPHA*Q PHALQSLE PLY<P <HA< o
AA®INPHLSbSTUC AAANLSed*L CATD>
D>SbD>YIAQ ST DShe>*, Sdyeal™
Ab/RCP>Ce»,

AS/RPCS®: L'a. M Labb®.

QSabbse (OLNNJO): sdal®, Ab/RPCSe,
Sgheaf® D*LAODA%Q S SHGRDLPGC DRGCIC
JNPrased ¢ Ceq.

D ®LbA JAPINL MCIC oa O¢
D2%LAPdC DND>NNJC NBPNNCP>SLC B4R
10, 2020-T. Db D>SLC 0a 2¢ LRL I vJ
AOAC NMSdN*NPeg CSebbda **LC
ASINPYD*Ne o DSb>ZALC AbAS >
o0asdN*Mg. 0a.2¢ Lcdle D LLCJs
P APC>NBIIC pa YT ABALDAS
0a5dN*Ne ot Cedd <»evPCrLo
AP RCo ™ C ba CP< LRLEIY o
Cbd<d Cd"\D>NCPHLLC DPc DLt A oAC
LRLbd“5 AcnsbNMeosIe bNLNGE M of,
Sbo® AALL LRLPIC 0a 2 LRLbd*oC
Sb.o% ANBH®<LE AlLonYDLob? Ssdyal™,
AP RPCS®,

AP/ QA>CSe: Sdyoal™® [ohD.

QULEvHS Mg ASbeHqse (OLNNJO): Sdyeal®
AbYRPBCe, q*PHNPINDC A7 PL > L C
alcls. 0a 2 <*MbNNJIN KPSy ¢
ADOAC oaSdN*Ma CoULALSADN<Sbe D C.
0a A HALLCAS ADIECIAS sepPLseC><<C
<SQCP<KCH*TC 0a AC HALLCAC P CaeDAC
JoPPYPCPI=Q PIAC, aNPNc? 22 ACJC
LD CC A/ Lo D> HC ba Cl
LD +PSbNPJINSHGEC.

46



so we don’t try to follow territorial or
provincial tax laws. Under Article 22 it states
what the Government of Nunavut can do.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Mr. Chairman, I would like
to ask the president of NTI a question.

Okay. In a joint submission to the Standing
Committee on Legislation that was dated
December 9, 2020 from NTI and the three
RIOs, an argument was put forward that Bill
55, in its treatment of the tax regime on Inuit-
owned lands, is not consistent with the
treatment given to Inuvialuit lands in the
NWT. As we know, there are two separate
agreements, the Inuvialuit Final Agreement
and the Nunavut Agreement, and they are not
worded exactly the same.

The Inuvialuit Agreement, under section
7(47), states “No federal, territorial,
provincial or municipal charge, levy or tax of
any kind whatsoever shall be payable on
Inuvialuit lands or based on the value or
assessed value of Inuvialuit lands and, without
limiting the generality of the foregoing, no
capital, wealth, realty, school, water or
business tax shall be payable on Inuvialuit
lands or based on the value or assessed value
of Inuvialuit lands.”

While the Nunavut Agreement Article 22
states in very similar words, almost the same
thing as section 7(47) above, within Article
22, that statement is subject to exceptions and
those exceptions are Inuit-owned lands both
within and without municipalities. They are
subject to real property taxation.

If we leave aside for the moment the question
of what constitutes real property taxation, just
leave that aside, I’'m wondering if it is not the
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case that the different wording in the two
agreements explains why the NWT PATA
and the proposed Bill 55 treat Inuvialuit and
the Inuit-owned lands differently. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Kotierk.

Ms. Kotierk (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Thank you for
the question, Member Angnakak. In
understanding the issue, I think we have to
understand the separate nature of land from
improvement. While the Inuvialuit Final
Agreement may slightly be broader in
exemption for Inuvialuit lands than from the
Nunavut Agreement for Inuit-owned lands,
and thank you for reading section 47, the
Inuvialuit Final Agreement is equally silent
on who should be responsible for property tax
for improvements. For mining improvements,
the universal practice and the law of general
application typically provide that the owner of
the improvements, in this case mining
companies, are responsible for the property
taxes for the improvements.

I think one of the areas of the interpretive
dispute that we have as Inuit organizations
with the Government of Nunavut is the way in
which Inuit organizations or Inuit-owned
lands are being treated differently than Crown
lands and there is no regard to the public
nature of Inuit-owned lands which, as you
stated in the joint submission of the regional
Inuit associations and Nunavut Tunngavik
Incorporated dated December 9, 2020, on
page 5, we make references to examples that
clearly illustrate that Inuit organizations are
being treated as public entities and as such,
we would argue that as public entities, they
should be treated as public entities through
this amendment process of Bill 55.

I would further point out that on page 6 of the
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joint submission that we made, there is
reference to the Nunavut Agreement, 17.1.1,
which clearly talks about Inuit-owned lands
and how Inuit-owned lands shall be to provide
Inuit with rights in land, that promotes
economic self-sufficiency of Inuit through
time, in a manner consistent with Inuit social
and cultural needs and aspirations. I think, as
the bill is currently being put forward, it
creates an unnecessary burden that will be
contrary to the intent of the Nunavut
Agreement and undermine the purpose of the
Inuit land ownership for Inuit organizations.
Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you. Thank you for
your response. Up until now, I guess, my
colleague Mr. Qirngnuq was talking about the
taxes that were owed by the Mary River
mining company and it was the government
that has been collecting or trying to collect
these taxes. We’re up to roughly almost $12
million. Why did it take so long for this to be
addressed? I’m just curious why that debt was
allowed to increase and increase every year.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Minister Ehaloak.

Hon. Jeannie Ehaloak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Through you, I’ll ask Mr. Ahlfors
to answer the Member’s question. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Mr. Ahlfors, just keep in
mind for the interpretation. Go ahead.

Mr. Ahlfors: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
thank the Member for the question. The issue
is that every time that an assessment has been
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made with respect to those lands for the past
several years, since about 2014-15, they have
been challenged by the Qikigtani Inuit
Association before the Territorial Board of
Revision and after that, the assessment
tribunal, and several of those years are still
before the assessment tribunal for a decision.
While that’s happening, the Government of
Nunavut is very limited in its enforcement
powers because those challenges are still
pending before the tribunal. That is the reason
that those numbers have accumulated because
every time that they receive a notice of
assessment, they challenge it and take it up
the line. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Ms. Angnakak, I’ll give
you one more question and then we’re going
to take a break. Ms. Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you very much. There
are different reasons for the parties
disagreeing with what this bill should look
like or shouldn’t look like, and one of the
words that seem to be coming all the time is
“improvements,” improvements in respect to
machinery and equipment. I know that clause
3 of Bill 55 amends section 2 of the Property
Assessment and Taxation Act by changing the
wording of the current definition of
“improvement.” I’'m wondering: what is the
rationale for this change? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Minister.

Hon. Jeannie Ehaloak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Through you, I’ll ask Mr. Seeley to

answer the Member’s question. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Mr. Seeley, on clause 3.

Mr. Seeley: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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I thank the Member for the question. The
matter of improvements on the lands is pretty
fundamental to the entire bill, so I thank you
for the question.

Without the improvements, the land is the
land. Improvements can range from, and I
think some descriptions were given earlier on
the nature of some improvements, things like
bridges, things like roads, culverts, and even
berms to restrict drainage and things like that.
It can also include buildings or built structures
on the land, so not unlike any type of land, the
improvements or anything that increases the
total assessed value of that property.

The purpose of refining the language around
improvements is very much about improving
the clarity to all parties subject to the
legislation, to reduce the level of uncertainty
and confusion and/or any kind of complaints
on the assessed value and how those
improvements are actually assessed by the
assessing agency. The improvements can be
anything, depending on the sector and the
nature of each property, but in this case |
think I have given you some examples of the
nature of mining improvements, which seem
to be the topic of the day.

I hope that answers the question. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Thank you, Mr. Seeley.
As mentioned, we will now take a 15-minute
break and we will be back after the break to
continue questioning. (interpretation) Thank
you.

>>Committee recessed at 15:29 and resumed
at 15:52

Chairman (interpretation): The hearing will
now reconvene. Before we went on break,
Members were asking questions and that will
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continue. Mr. Rumbolt.

Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and
good afternoon. Mr. Chairman, [ would like to
quote from the president of NTI’s opening
comments before I ask a question to
Baffinland. On page 2, items 11 and 12, the
president said that “The Government of
Nunavut now proposes to transfer the
property tax burden” on to Inuit organizations,
and then 12 says that “The Government of
Nunavut had a choice: they could have chosen
mining companies instead of Inuit
organizations. It would have been a policy
option that is easily acceptable to all parties,
including the mining industry.” My question
to Baffinland is whether or not they agree
with the statement that the president of NTI
put in her opening comments. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Through Zoom, if you are available, Mr.
Moore.

Mr. Moore: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you, Mr. Rumbolt, for the question. I
would sort of respond to this in a roundabout
way by saying that [ wouldn’t look at a
hypothetical situation in the bill or rather,
something that’s not in the bill and that the
Government of Nunavut not deciding to
proceed one way or the other.

I think what I can say is that if Baffinland
owes property taxes as per the Property Tax
Assessment Act, it would pay those taxes. As
was stated numerous times already, the
current taxes on Mary River are in dispute and
should the tribunal render its decision, we
would of course remedy and follow the
decision of the tribunal. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Rumbolt.
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Mr. Rumbolt: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
thank him for the response. My next question
is going to be for the Government of Nunavut.
In a recent letter to the Committee from
February 11, and the letter was from the
Minister of Finance, and in that letter he
stated that Bill 55 also adds an option where
the assessed owner, like the designated Inuit
organization, can ask the Government of
Nunavut to send a notice of assessment
directly to the mine to streamline payment.
Can the minister confirm whether this is in
Bill 55 and, if so, where in Bill 55? Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Rumbolt. (interpretation ends) I’1l just clarify
that that letter was sent to a Committee
Member and that Committee Member kindly
provided it or shared it with the Committee.
Minister Ehaloak.

Hon. Jeannie Ehaloak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Through you, I’ll ask Mr. Ahlfors
to answer the Member’s question. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Ahlfors.

Mr. Ahlfors: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Yes,
that is on page 8 of the bill, about the middle
of the page, subclause 8(2) states “The
following is added after subsection 27(2)” and
there it says, “An assessed owner,” so that
would be the landowner, “may request, in
writing, that the Director or the senior
administrative officer, as the case may be,
send a copy of a notice of assessment to
another person at a specified address.” That’s
a request that they can make and then the
notice would also be sent to that other person,
but it would be sent to the landowner but
would also be sent to the other person, so
there would be two notices. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

GL>C (ONMNJO): SdY2al™ Ab/RPC® L
sdv*al®oNc PPLAC. 0a 2¢ LRLPd® ot
KU, Codd L@ P S PseDs
NNG®C>c > bNLAGE 0 A<D 117
PaDLcnnbde Mo Cy oo Lo Dse/L L C
D>bse/Lc 5o~ LcLbhse 55 CA%a. SbD>ANAN
QM onbD>I® o EGSAbNSbPeNCH*LE A5 5
@ A®CPILIC AoAS NMSIN*PC oa D¢
LRLbC DLGro <™ 0¢ APcbNa®

Do ?b>NMbEC 5N ADAS b NsbNNNC
QBINP*PSNC, Lalbh® 55, Ad°N<do Coa
NNGse/L*LC? Sdyeal™, AbY/PCh,

AP/PCSe: 'q, D GL>C ORNNUO) A,
DPYa /NbboSod, bNLNGE 1€ Coa
NNGC>c POILI® %L 5 CA%a bNLNGE S
PAxPegh PR o€ DT PObAL SO ™

ASbE_ <5,

QuLNShse Ngm ASbe < (OLANJC): Sdb>al™,
AP RPBC. JSedNPONE D G2«
PD>SIa<I®CS C LU, Sdyal™, AbYRP>Cse,

AP/RMCSe: ', D o<,

4e2qs (ORNNNUO): Sdbal™, AYRDBCS®, A,
LbASDLSe 8-[CD% LLbNa®, d*o<o<do
aN>NPYA 8(2). 27(2) CA%a. @ *osb®Ds,
A5 oal® @ oSb®dse NNsebNJC
AANRTTQ®D%®, CAPG SHP>ANSOCAT>MCC
JGPCo® anaA%®’aSLE CAJ™L, >d<d
QDN PP SN, LSP*a CAL <p ot
A>ECPNCNEGL®IIC @ *oSbseDIC,
<ADeD®D 1< 5. sdyal®, Ab/PCSe,

53



Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Maybe just on that topic,
just to clarify, this option where the notice of
assessment would be sent directly to the mine
to streamline payment, even with this option
in place, the legal responsibility for the
assessed tax payable would lie with the
designated Inuit organization. I just would
like to get that clarified. Minister.

Hon. Jeannie Ehaloak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Yes, to be transparent so that the
Government of Nunavut chose that should the
mining company dispute the taxes that are to
be paid with the Inuit organization, they have
a copy of that assessment so that they know
that those taxes and the taxes that they are
supposed to pay are accurate. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Thank you for clarifying
that. (interpretation) Our Committee
colleagues, (interpretation ends) Mr. Qamaniq
and Mr. Pedersen, if you have questions, just
let me know; raise your hand or your Zoom
hand. There we go. Mr. Qamaniq, go ahead.

Mr. Qamaniq: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
(interpretation) Welcome to the invited
guests.

(interpretation ends) My question will be
going to the Government of Nunavut. Under
the Property Assessment and Taxation Act,
the Minister of Finance is responsible for
setting mill rates. How are the mill rates
determined? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Minister Ehaloak.

Hon. Jeannie Ehaloak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Through you, I’ll ask Assistant
Deputy Minister Dan Carlson to answer the
Member’s question, as the mill rates are
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established by the Department of Finance.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Carlson.

Mr. Carlson: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for the question. Each year the
Minister of Finance does something called a
mill rate establishment order. It’s essentially a
small piece of regulation that sets out the mill
rates for the year. The question is: how do we
determine what that is?

What our team does, our small tax team at the
Department of Finance, is we look at the
assessed properties, we look at the different
classes, we look at the different values of
those properties, and then we run a few
scenarios, we try out different mill rates, and
we make some suggestions. What we will say
is if we raise mill rates for residential by this
little bit, then these are the impacts on
property owners in this way.

We run a number of different models behind
the scenes and then from there we make a
recommendation to the Minister of Finance
and the Financial Management Board. If they
agree with us, then they approve and the mill
rates become regulation and, if they don’t
agree with us, they send us back and we try
again or we try a different suggestion. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Going
back to you, Mr. Qamaniq.

Mr. Qamaniq: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
thank you for the answer. Are there any
changes to the current mill rates being
considered, Mr. Chairman? Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Minister.
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Hon. Jeannie Ehaloak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. As Mr. Carlson has stated, the mill
rates are reviewed on a yearly basis. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) The question was: are
any changes to current mill rates being
considered? Minister.

Hon. Jeannie Ehaloak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Yes. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Qamanigq.

Mr. Qamaniq: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. In
November 2020 the department issued a
request for proposals for the provisions of
property assessment services. The request for
proposals closed on December 11, 2020. The
government’s current contract with the
Qikiqtaaluk Corporation expired on March
31, 2021. What was the outcome of the

request for proposals process? Thank you, Mr.

Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Minister.

Hon. Jeannie Ehaloak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Through you, I’ll ask Deputy
Minister Mr. Seeley to answer the Member’s
question. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Seeley.

Mr. Seeley: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
thank the Member for the question. The
assessment services for the GN are
administered through a contract and have
been for many years. That contract is
procured through a public RFP that the
Member quoted. I don’t have the actual
results for that particular RFP or the status of
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it, but it is typically issued on a five-year term
to the most appropriate bidder or the eventual
successful proponent. We can certainly get
that information back to the Committee as
early as tomorrow, if that’s acceptable. Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Thank you and that
would be acceptable. Thanks. (interpretation)
Mr. Qamaniq, do you still have questions?
Mr. Qamanig.

Mr. Qamaniq: Yes. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. My question is to the Chamber of
Mines, I suppose, and the chamber indicates
on page 12 of its submission, “Mines are even
charged property taxes for buildings they need
to remove and reclaim, but they must also pay
reclamation security on those same
buildings.” Can the chambers clarify why the
chamber considers this to be unreasonable?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Dobbin.

Mr. Dobbin: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. In
our submission, yes, we did say that upon
reclamation, mines are even charged for
property taxes on buildings, so we were
saying that there is essentially double-dipping,
but if my colleague, the president of the
chamber, if Ken Armstrong is available,
maybe he can clarify that question further.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) We will go to you
through Zoom, Mr. Armstrong.

Mr. Armstrong: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Yes, thanks for the question. I will try my
best.

I think the concept is just to make Members
sort of aware and mindful of some of the
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additional costs that the mining operations
have. Not only are mining operators required
to fund the actual construction of the
improvements, which is obviously typical,
they also are required to post reclamation
bonds or amounts of money up front in order
to ensure that those improvements will be
properly reclaimed and removed in line with
their land use permissions, and then on top of
that, also being taxed on the property tax
through this bill and this legislation for the
use of those same buildings.

It’s just an additional expense that we’re just
trying to make sure that the Members are
aware of when we look at the costs of mining
operators in the territory. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Qamanigq.

Mr. Qamaniq: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
thank that person for answering my question.
My last question for now is the chamber
indicates that the territorial government
“Provide a property tax rebate to mines for the
municipal/community services they must
provide themselves.” Can they describe how
this rebate is envisioned to operate? Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Dobbin.

Mr. Dobbin: I guess my colleague, Mr.
President of the Chamber, Ken Armstrong,
can attempt to answer that question for the
Committee Member.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) We will go to you
through Zoom, Mr. Armstrong.

Mr. Armstrong: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Yes, this would be just in terms of ideas on,
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again, how to acknowledge some of the
higher costs that our mining operators have in
the territory.

I think it would require making an estimate of
the overall amount that is being taxed and
again, the government is stating that these
taxes are used to provide services and in
particular, I think, we are thinking services
like sewage and power and so on that
typically a property taxpayer benefits from in
a community where they’re living, and in this
case the mines have to provide those services
for themselves.

It would be a matter of coming up with some
estimate of what would be a fair estimate of
the overall tax bill that normally would go
towards those services that the mine is
providing for itself and looking for a rebate or
reduction of those amounts. That’s an idea for
the Members’ consideration. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Qamanigq, I believe you are done. Well, you
said that was your last question. Thank you.
Moving on. Ms. Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
have a question for NTI. My question is, in its
news release, again, on November 10, 2020
Nunavut Tunngavik Incorporated stated that
“The Government of Nunavut (GN) is
misguided in its understanding on the benefits
of mineral development, particularly
grandfathered land leases on IOLs where Inuit
inherited the royalty regime from the
Government of Canada but would be made
responsible for millions of dollars in mining
taxes.”

I would like to know: what specific clauses in
Bill 55 does Nunavut Tunngavik Incorporated
object to and how does Nunavut Tunngavik
Incorporated recommend these concerns be
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addressed? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Through Zoom, Ms.
Kotierk.

Ms. Kotierk (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Thank you for the
question, Member Angnakak. I’m going to
provide a general comment and then I’'m
going to ask Kilikvak Kabloona to provide
details about the specific provisions we would
like to see amended.

First, I think I would like to acknowledge that
governments have the right to govern. I would
say that also in addition to that, governments
have the obligation to uphold Inuit rights. I
think that the importance in identifying is that,
is that we have no dispute over whether or not
property tax should be collected by the
governments.

What we do have concern and grave concern
is the liability that would be placed on Inuit
organizations as a designated Inuit
organization, as the landowner of Inuit-owned
lands and the way in which Inuit
organizations are being treated differently
than other public entities, despite through
courts and despite through assessments
through the Canadian Tax Act, for instance,
Inuit organizations are recognized as public
entities.

Ultimately the concern that we have is that if
Inuit organizations are liable for the property
taxes, and [ would say that it doesn’t really
matter to the mining companies. I recognize
mining companies that are present today
would prefer that there are no property taxes,
that’s for them to argue, but it makes no
difference who they actually remit their
property taxes to, but it makes a big difference
if Inuit organizations are liable because, in the
case for Baffinland, Nunavut Tunngavik
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Incorporated still has not received royalties
and don’t expect to receive royalties until
2030 because it is a grandfathered property.

Having said that, through Inuit Impact and
Benefit Agreements, regional Inuit
associations are able to access benefits. As
Members will know, there are about 21
different areas under Article 26, Schedule 1,
areas that regional Inuit associations can
negotiate to get benefits to mitigate the
impacts of resource development. Our
concern is that if there is a liability, Inuit
organizations will have to make choices about
whether or not they’re able to provide benefits
to Inuit.

In the Qikiqgtaaluk region, for instance, one of
the benefits through this is the daycare
subsidies, and we do not want to be in a
position where we have to make decisions
about things that continue to have a very
positive impact on Inuit who are not only the
constituents of Inuit organizations but also the
constituents of this public government.

I just wanted to make that broad and I will
ask, if you don’t mind, Mr. Chairman, that
Kilikvak Kabloona speak to the specificities
of the provisions we would like to see
amended. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Kabloona.

Ms. Kabloona (interpretation): Good day.
(interpretation ends) Thank you for the
question. We would be looking at the bill
more favourably with some changes to the
particular wording. We would like to see that
designated Inuit organizations be exempt of
being recorded as the assessed owner of an
improvement when that improvement is not
owned by the designated Inuit organization
and it is on Inuit-owned land, and new
language confirming that this applies
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retroactively since the creation of Nunavut.

As President Kotierk mentioned, the issue is
that on grandfathered land leases, Inuit
organizations will not receive royalties until
capital costs have been paid. Bill 55 asks us to
take the liability of property tax when we are
receiving potentially no revenue. The
government then proposes that we build that
into our leases and that we refer the costs to
the mining company. Of course the
government could do it themselves with
contractual obligations.

The challenge behind that is that the
government asked us to require that it is built
into our leases. That information was
provided to the Standing Committee. The
government then suggested that we cancel the
land leases for operating mines if those taxes
were not paid, and we are not interested in
putting hundreds of Inuit out of work to
achieve that outcome when there are many
other opportunities for collecting that the
government has access to.

I’1l repeat those wording changes. We would
look more favourably upon the bill if it
provided that designated Inuit organizations
are exempt from being recorded as the
assessed owner of an improvement when the
improvement is not owned by the designated
Inuit organization and is on Inuit-owned land,
and then confirm that this change applies
retroactively since the creation of Nunavut.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you, Ms.
Kabloona. (interpretation ends) Back to you,
Ms. Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. |
thank NTI for their response. My next
question along the same lines is for Baffinland
Iron Mines.
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The most recently published annual reports
under the federal Extractive Sector
Transparency Measures Act, it’s a big, long
title to me, indicate that Agnico Eagle Mines
paid a total of a little over $6.8 million in
taxes to the Government of Nunavut during
the 2019 and 2020 calendar years, and so by
contrast, Baffinland Iron Mines paid no taxes
to the Government of Nunavut during either
of these calendar years.

In a recent set of financial statements,
Baffinland indicated that it has taken the
position that since it or its subsidiaries only
lease lands, it’s not subject to any municipal
or territorial land taxes. What I would like to
know is: what is Baffinland’s rationale for
taking this position? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Again, I’m looking at our
Zoom screen. Mr. Moore.

Mr. Moore: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Thank you for the question. Unfortunately I’'m
not sure what document or reference material
the Member is referring to, so I can’t answer
the question unless [ have the document in
question.

I would say, however, that Baffinland did pay
taxes to the Government of Nunavut in the
last ESTMA reporting year. We paid our
payroll taxes on behalf of our employees, as
well as our fuel tax. As indicated in my
opening statement, it totalled close to $15
million last year. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) The document that Ms.
Angnakak was referring to was the federal
Extractive Sector Transparency Measures Act
annual report and so she was referring to that
document with regard to Agnico Eagle. There
was an indication from Baffinland in a recent
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set of financial statements that she also
referred to. Ms. Angnakak, do you want to
continue?

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Just to go on from that question, I would like
to ask, if [ may, Baffinland Iron Mines
representatives. [ would like to ask: what is
Baffinland’s position respecting the payment
of property taxes by the Qikiqtani Inuit
Association? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) We’re going back to
Zoom. Mr. Moore.

Mr. Moore: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. If I
may, just going back to the previous question,
sorry, I’'m looking at Baffinland’s ESTMA
report which was submitted in March 2021 for
the 2022 reporting year and it does list the
taxes we did pay, so I will leave that one
there. If there is a further question, I can
certainly take that back and review that with
my finance colleagues to provide any
additional information from those ESTMA
reports that the Member or Committee would
seek. It’s certainly not an issue at all.

In relation to the other question, I think, Mr.
Chairman, with due respect to the Member’s
question, that that falls very much in line with
what the current dispute at the tribunal
assessment that I spoke about in my opening
remarks is about, is that specific issue and as
such, I don’t think it would be appropriate for
Baffinland to comment on something that is
currently before the tribunal, while the
tribunal is trying to make its determination
and a final decision. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Angnakak.

Ms. Angnakak: Thank you. I would like to
ask Agnico Eagle Mines a question, please.
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Agnico Eagle Mines indicates, on page 4 of
its submission provided to the Committee,
that “In relation to underground
improvements, piping and pumping for
underground water, evacuation, ducting and
venting, electrical components, and lunch and
safety shacks located in underground mines,
these items are currently considered taxable
equipment. However, our understanding is
that they constitute additional extraordinary
costs compared to, let’s say, open-pit
operations that do not require such facilities or
equipment.” I’'m wondering: what specific
changes to the Property Assessment and
Taxation Act does Agnico Eagle recommend
to address this issue? Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Agnico Eagle, Mr. Plante.

Mr. Plante: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I
would like to refer the question to Mr. Baltov.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Baltov.

Mr. Baltov: Thank you, Mr. Chairman and all
delegates and all guests.

Regarding this question, as you maybe know,
the mining of an ore body can incorporate
various techniques and equipment depending
on the ore properties and surrounding waste
rock. The two most common types of
excavation are surface mining and subsurface;
in other words, underground mining.

Surface mining is done by removing surface
overburden, some vegetation there and
bedrock, to reach ore deposits. This type of
surface mining includes open-pit mining,
quarrying, strip mining, and others.
Equipment typically used are bulldozers and
shovels to remove the overburden, followed
by drills and explosives to break the ore into
manageable pieces for transportation. Loading
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and hauling machinery located on the surface
are often very large to maximize productivity
and to take advantage of the less confining
environment.

On the contrary, the subsurface mining
consists of excavating tunnels or shafts into
the earth’s surface to reach ore deposits. This
type of subsurface mining includes drift
mining, slope mining, longwall mining, and
others. I’ll admit it’s for either mining include
borehole mining, drift, and other methods.
Equipment typically involved includes
underground drills, ceiling vaulters,
underground loaders, etcetera.

The first step to size the reduction begins in
the mining stage with the use of drilling,
blasting, and evacuation to generate materials
that are easily transportable. We have at this
point in the Arctic that some of the equipment
is not taxable, such as mobile equipment, for
example, loaders, trucks, and another example
could be portable equipment, such as
computers, telecommunication devices,
tracking systems, and others.

What we think in this category when we raise
this question, here we’re talking about
underground water, including the watering,
the air intake and outtake, also the lighting
and electricity installations. For example,
there are underground electrical services,
there are power cables, there is secondary
ventilation, there are communication systems,
and there are portable electric compressors,
pumping stations, and other equipment that
we would like to see if it’s any possibility to
be treated differently because now you can
see that they are taxable equipment. What’s
the reasoning for this? First of all, this is the
kind of extra cost compared to the open-pit
mining that I mentioned previously.

Concerning specifically the electrical
components, the piping and pumping for
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underground water evacuation, ducting and
venting, and lunch and safety shacks, as
mentioned previously, it’s our contention that
they constitute additional extraordinary costs
compared to open-pit operations. They do not
require such facilities or equipment. The
rationale for excluding these assets from
assessed value is identical to the rationale for
preferring in not including underground
development of shafts or tunnels in their
supporting framing in the assessed value.
Digging a shaft and tunnel are equivalent of
digging an open pit, first to reach the ore
levels, then to extract the ore, but what I can
recognize is that underground work cannot be
performed without providing adequate
supporting framing, which is not necessary,
obviously, in the open-pit extraction
operation.

In the same token, it’s not possible to carry
out the underground work without removing
the contaminated atmosphere and supplying
fresh air, pumping out water to prevent
flooding of shafts, galleries, and traps, and
also provide power for electric-driven
equipment and lighting. None of these
obstacles to underground work exist in open-
pit operation and therefore should be
considered as an extraordinary cost of
underground ore extracting. That’s the first
point.

The second point is very often this kind of
equipment and improvement, in other words,
is mobile. It’s not fixed. The water pipes, the
pipes for the watering, for example, they are
mobile equipment which is usually not
taxable. My other point of view is that often
this kind of equipment has a temporary
character, for example, temporary electrical
installation, temporary lighting in some
galleries, and they change often very
frequently where they’re placed. In Quebec
particularly and I think in the north of Canada,
the underground equipment is normally not
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taxed. This point is simply raised to see if
there are any possibilities to ask you to treat
these improvements in a different way,
applying different ratios, or excluding them
from the taxable improvements. Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Baltov. (interpretation ends) I would like to
give the department a chance to respond,
Minister, in terms of your response to Agnico
Eagle’s concern on this issue. Minister
Ehaloak.

Hon. Jeannie Ehaloak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Through you, I’ll ask Mr. Seeley,
Deputy Minister, to respond. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Seeley.

Mr. Seeley: Thank you, Minister. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. I won’t respond beyond the
fact that the bill as presented does make a
number of refinements in the description of
what improvements constitute
“improvements” beyond the existing
legislation.

I think that the representative from Agnico
Eagle did a great job of describing the
additional operational costs that an
underground operation would face. I think
that the extended definitions that have been
provided on machinery and clarifications on
mobile versus portable equipment and some
of the different categories that can be included
within an assessment are a significant step
forward over existing legislation and I think
will provide clarity in many of the areas that
the representative from Agnico Eagle
described.

I’m not sure if there are any additional areas
that we do need to add based on some of the
descriptors that were provided previously.
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Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) I’ll move on here. Mr.
Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Welcome to the guests and visitors.

My question is for Agnico Eagle Mines. The
2019 annual report under the federal
Extractive Sector Transparency Measures Act
indicates that Agnico Eagle Mines paid
$2,180,000 in taxes to the Government of
Nunavut during the calendar year. The 2020
annual report indicates that the company paid
$4,710,000 in taxes to the Government of
Nunavut during the calendar year; also,
TMAC Resources, which Agnico Eagle
recently acquired, paid $940,000. Can you
confirm that these taxes were property taxes
imposed under the authority of the territorial
Property Assessment and Taxation Act?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Akoak. (interpretation ends) To Zoom, Mr.
Plante.

Mr. Plante: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I will
refer the question to Mr. Pat McNamara.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
McNamara.

Mr. McNamara: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Am I on video or... ? Sorry.

The topic of taxes is not my actual area, as
I’m into the income tax and the royalties.
However, it is my understanding that these
would fall under the Property Taxation Act.
They are property taxes, so I would assume
that that’s what they fall under, but we can get
back to you on that with a written response
within a week.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Thank you. The
Committee would accept that and appreciate
that. Mr. Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. A
question to Agnico Eagle Mines, as Agnico
Eagle Mines indicates on page 3 of its
submission that “Property tax invoices are
sent annually by the Government of Nunavut
directly to Agnico Eagle. Invoice payments
are issued by Agnico Eagle to the
Government of Nunavut and this is a process
that we follow diligently and one with which
we are comfortable.”

Can you clarify if Agnico Eagle has had any
disputes with the Government of Nunavut in
respect to the assessment of taxes owing
under the territorial Property Assessment and
Taxation Act? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Plante.

Mr. Plante: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Not to
my knowledge, but I could refer it to Mr. Alex
Baltov, if he has a more accurate answer.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Baltov.

Mr. Baltov: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Exactly, to my knowledge, there is no
problem at all with all the process of taxation
on the Meadowbank, Amaruq, Meliadine, and
now Agnico Eagle added TMAC since this
year, so the invoices and how all the process
of treating the CapEx (capital expenditures),
analyzing the information, giving out
information to the assessors, then giving all
the support to all the explanation and notes for
better understanding. All this is going very
smoothly and once the invoices issued are
paid very briefly, I think, in a 30-day period
and no contestation or other issues to know, in
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my opinion, to my knowledge. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Akoak.

Mr. Akoak: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. This
will be my final question. Agnico Eagle
Mines indicates on page 3 of its submission
that “The issue of the payment of property
taxes is not included in the leasing
arrangements for our different properties.”
Can you clarify why this is the case? Thank
you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Mr. Plante, would you
like to respond?

Mr. Plante: I will refer again to Mr. Baltov.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Baltov.

Mr. Baltov: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I’'m
not sure. I’m so sorry. I’'m not sure I get the
sense of the question. Could I ask you just to
repeat the question, please? Thanks so much,
and excuse me again.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) It’s regarding page 3 of
your submission, page 3 of your submission,
and Mr. Akoak had asked... . Well, it
indicates on page 3 that “The issue of the
payment of property taxes is not included in
the leasing arrangements for our different

properties.” The question was: can you clarify

why this is the case? Mr. Baltov.

Mr. Baltov: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Could

I ask you to ask your question tomorrow?
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) You can defer the
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question and we will anticipate an answer to it
tomorrow. That’s acceptable. Thank you.
Moving on. Mr. Qirngnugq.

Mr. Qirngnugq (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman, for recognizing me again. I
have a question regarding Nunavut
Tunngavik’s news release of November 10,
2020. The second paragraph refers to Bill 55.
“Bill 55 makes Inuit responsible to pay for
mining property tax on subsurface Inuit
Owned Lands (IOLs) as far back to April 1,
1999.” My question for the president of
Nunavut Tunngavik Incorporated is: what
specific clauses in Bill 55 do you object to
and how can the concern that is referred to be
addressed? Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Kotierk.

Ms. Kotierk (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Qujannamiik,
Member Qirngnug. In terms of the
retroactivity, I think it’s located in section
48(10), if I’'m not mistaken, and we have
grave concerns about this in terms of having
designated Inuit organizations liable since
April 1 for property taxes.

I think, as legislators considering this bill, I
recognize that the Chair has been clear that
it’s difficult to think about hypotheticals, but I
think one of the things that Members of the
Legislative Assembly, Standing Committee
Members, would consider is the impact of the
bill and what that would mean in how people
behave and, in this circumstance when
designated Inuit organizations become liable
for property tax, what will that mean. As
Inuit, is it feasible, and I would say it is, that
Inuit organizations would think about how to
avoid the liability, which would mean that
maybe as Inuit organizations we would be less
open to engaging with improvements on lands
that Inuit own the subsurface mineral rights
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to.

Further, it might be that, for instance, we
might encourage resource developers or
mining companies to think about having their
improvements located on Crown land, where
the Crown has the mineral rights, which
would mean that the improvements to the
infrastructure would be a little bit farther
away than the deposits. I’m just bringing
those up as things that could be potential
considerations moving forward if this bill
goes forward.

Having said that, we are still very concerned
about the retroactivity and we do not think
that it upholds Inuit rights and does not
capture the intent and spirit of the Nunavut
Agreement, and we would argue that the
purpose of Inuit-owned lands was to give
Inuit a little leg up, that economic
development opportunity for a people that
have been disadvantaged for a long period,
and Inuit gave up their aboriginal and treaty
rights to be able to determine the 18 percent
of the Inuit-owned land and to be able to give
up some of this title, there needs to be some
benefit afforded to Inuit.

It’s important, as you look at the proposed
legislation, you look at the impact and
retroactivity, as explained by Member
Qirngnug, would be something we look upon
favourably and we think it would be going
against Inuit rights that need to be upheld.
Thank you.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Qirngnugq.

Mr. Qirngnugq (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. In the same news release, 1’11
read what the fifth paragraph states.
(interpretation ends) In its news release of
November 10, 2020, Nunavut Tunngavik
Incorporated stated that “The GN is asking
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Inuit Organizations to collect the taxes on
their behalf and cancel the leases of mining
companies when they do not pay the tax,
potentially forcing hundreds of Inuit workers
into unemployment.” What specific clauses in
Bill 55 does Nunavut Tunngavik Incorporated
object to and how does Nunavut Tunngavik
Incorporated recommend these concerns be
addressed? (interpretation) Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Kotierk.

Ms. Kotierk (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. (interpretation ends) Thank you,
Member Qirngnug. I had earlier asked
Kilikvak Kabloona to provide specific details
about the provisions we would like to see
revised, so I will ask her to repeat those
provisions, please, if you don’t mind, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Ms.
Kabloona.

Ms. Kabloona: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
NTI would look more favourably upon the bill
with some changes: the first is provide that
designated Inuit organizations are exempt
from being recorded as the assessed owner of
an improvement when that improvement is
not owned by the designated Inuit
organization and it is on Inuit-owned land; the
second, add new language confirming that this
applies retroactively since the creation of
Nunavut.

Based on the discussions today, we would
also add a clarification that unimproved Inuit-
owned land is not taxable. This is consistent
with Article 22. We would also list that the
PATA’s appeals bodies have the duty and
power to hear complaints concerning both
assessment and taxation of Inuit-owned land.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Qirngnugq.

Mr. Qirngnuq (interpretation): Thank you,
Mr. Chairman. Moving on to another subject
and this question is for Agnico Eagle,
(interpretation ends) on page 9 of its
submission to the Standing Committee, the
Northwest Territories and Nunavut Chamber
of Mines states that the Meadowbank mine is
not profitable. Does Agnico Eagle agree with
this statement? (interpretation) Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
Agnico Eagle Mines, Mr. Plante.

Mr. Plante: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. As
some of you may be aware, in the early days
of Meadowbank, due to higher cost of
construction and higher operating costs, we
did incur a major write-down for this
operation. Now we have earned and we
generated profits since then, but not to the
point to recover from that write-down. With
the earnings from the Meadowbank days and
the actual Amaruq operation, we’re in a good

position to overcome this write-down, but still

off on the negative side. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you, Mr.
Plante. (interpretation ends) We’re just about

out of time for the day. I know Mr. Lightstone
is next on the list for questions. I would like to

give the Minister a chance to respond to the
concerns raised by Nunavut Tunngavik.

Minister Ehaloak, we just heard from Nunavut

Tunngavik in terms of their suggestions or
their concerns with the bill, and on page 6 of

your opening comments you state that treating

privately owned lands across Nunavut the
same way as Crown lands is a not reasonable

approach. I would like to give you a chance to

explain why you have made that statement
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that this is not a reasonable approach.
Minister Ehaloak.

Hon. Jeannie Ehaloak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. Through you, I would ask Mr.
Ahlfors to answer your question. Thank you,
Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Ahlfors.

Mr. Ahlfors: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. The
current regime for Crown lands in Nunavut,
which is not changing with Bill 55, is that the
Crown does not pay taxes at all under the
Property Assessment and Taxation Act.
However, if the Crown leases the land to
someone else, for example, a company that
puts some sort of business on there, then that
business has to pay both the tax on the land
and the tax on the improvements on the land.
Basically the Crown is not ever liable for any
taxes. This also includes if the Crown builds
its own buildings on that land, then the Crown
is also not liable.

The result would be, if we treated all private
property in Nunavut the same way as Crown
lands, means that if you own property in
Nunavut and you put improvements on it
yourself, you’re not paying any tax at all
because that’s what the Crown does, and that
is why this an unreasonable result because the
whole point of property tax is that it’s paid.
The Crown has specific exemption for paying
property taxes, but it would be unreasonable
to give a similar exemption to every single
landowner in Nunavut because then the
government would be collecting very little
taxes at that point. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Thank you for clarifying
that. Mr. Lightstone, you might have time for
one question before the end of the day. Mr.
Lightstone.
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Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
It’s kind of a complex issue. I’1l try to bring it
up tonight and maybe we can continue on that
line of discussion tomorrow.

The major issue that NTI has brought forward
is the fact that under the current proposed
amendments included in Bill 55 is the fact
that liabilities for any arrears will be placed
on designated Inuit organizations. I agree with
NTI; I would hate to see money come out of
Inuit orgs’ pockets to pay any arrears owing
from mining companies.

I have a question with regard to the current
Property Assessment and Taxation Act
legislation, specific to the section on assessed
owners. Section 19 of the current Act states
that under the title “Parcels,” if you’re looking
at that now, “Except as otherwise provided in
this section, a parcel must be recorded in an
assessment roll in the name of
(a) the person registered under the Land
Titles Act as the owner of the fee
simple estate; or

(b) at the request of the owner, an agent
designated by the owner who is

satisfactory to the Director.”

And then section 20 continues on with
“Improvements.”

My question is: under section 19 of the
current Act, would designated Inuit
organizations be able to submit a request that
an agent be designated to be recorded under
the assessment roll? Would the mining
companies themselves, upon request of DIOs,
be able to be recorded as under their name in
the assessment roll? Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you. Mr.
Ahlfors.

Mr. Ahlfors: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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To answer that question, the first thing I’'m
going to say is to define what an agent is in
law. An agent is someone who acts on behalf
of someone else. When an agent acts on
behalf of someone else, they bind that other
person. If, for example, a landowner were to
name an agent in this manner, that agent
would be acting on behalf of the landowner
and anything the agent does binds the
landowner legally.

Yes, the Inuit orgs could request that the
mining company be named as their agent, but
in that situation, anything that the mining
company does in that capacity would bind the
Inuit organization because of that agency
relationship. That’s how an agent works is an
agent is a representative of the principal who
is appointing the agent. Thank you, Mr.
Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) That’s going to conclude
our questioning for today. This hearing will
continue tomorrow, but before we break for
the evening, I’ll give Minister Ehaloak a
chance to comment. Minister.

Hon. Jeannie Ehaloak: Thank you, Mr.
Chairman. I would like to go back to Member
Qirngnuq’s question regarding the RFP for
the contract for the assessments. He had asked
where the process was, and the request for
proposals was closed and the contract was
awarded on February 4, 2021 and it’s a five-
year contract and it’s with the Qikiqtaaluk
Corporation. They provide annual assessment
services, certify assessment rolls, issuing
notices of assessment, and which is all public
information. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman (interpretation): Thank you.
(interpretation ends) Thank you, Minister. The
meeting will continue tomorrow morning
beginning at 9 a.m.
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Before we break, the Committee is happy that
all of our witnesses have had the chance to
speak. For tomorrow’s meeting, we would
like to remind witnesses, wherever possible,
to keep their cameras on in order to make the
switching smoother for the technical staff, and
so that’s for tomorrow morning.

(interpretation) Our meeting will reconvene
tomorrow morning at nine o’clock. Enjoy
your evening and we will see you again
tomorrow morning.

>>Committee adjourned at 17:00
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